1969

Lawrence W. Brown v. Charles Fred Johnson and Royal Baking Company : Appellants' Brief

NATURE OF CASE

Action by plaintiff to recover damages for personal injuries sustained in an automobile accident.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The jury returned a verdict of no cause of action in the first trial. The court, Judge Marcellus K. Snow sitting, granted plaintiff's motion for a new trial. In the second trial, the jury returned an erroneous verdict in favor of the plaintiff, which the court, Judge Leonard W. Elton sitting, did not accept until revised. Judgment was subsequently entered on the revised verdict of the second jury and the court denied defendant's motion for a new trial.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants pray for reversal of the judgment entered by the trial court on the second jury verdict and for reinstatement of the judgment of no cause of action entered on the first jury verdict; or in the alternative, defendants pray that the case be remanded and the trial court ordered to grant defendants a new trial with direction that the issue of damages relating to possible future surgery be eliminated from the jury's consideration.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

(The following statements of facts as to liability are from the first trial.)

The collision out of which this action arises occurred January 11, 1968. Plaintiff was driving a Corvair automobile down Emigration Canyon. The defendant Johnson was driving a step-van bread truck in the course of his employment with the defendant Royal Baking Company and had followed plaintiff's automobile for approximately one mile down the canyon before the accident occurred (R. 738). Mr. Johnson had plaintiff's automobile in view most of the time as both vehicles were proceeding down the canyon (R. 739), but the plaintiff never saw the bread truck at any time prior to the collision (R. 595). As the vehicles entered a straight section of road where passing was permitted (Exh. P-1), Mr. Johnson started to pass plaintiff's automobile since there was no oncoming traffic approaching (R. 596). There was no intersections in the area, no automobiles ahead of plaintiff, or any other circumstance, according to plaintiff, which would

have indicated to anyone following the plaintiff that he might suddenly decelerate (R. 596).

When the front of the bread truck was about even with the rear of plaintiff's automobile, plaintiff applied his brakes and swerved somewhat to the left (R. 740). Mr. Johnson then decided not to complete his pass because he was afraid plaintiff might lose control of his automobile and skid into the bread truck (R. 785). As he was getting back into the right-hand lane, plaintiff applied his brakes the second time (R. 740) without signaling, (R. 601), and apparently without observing to the rear through his rear-view mirror (R. 595).

Plaintiff's deceleration was abrupt enough to raise the rear end of his automobile at least two and one-half inches in order that the rear bumper of the Corvair could come over the front bumper of the bread truck (R. 702-703) and damage the right front fender of the truck above the bumper (R. 741).

Plaintiff's deceleration was made because of a small dog walking along the right side of the roadway (R. 596) which never crossed the road or darted out in front of him before he applied his brakes (R. 598).

(The following statement of facts regarding the issues of injury and damages are from the second trial.)

As a result of the accident, plaintiff sustained various injuries to his neck for which he was treated by Dr.

Thomas E. Soderberg. Plaintiff was also examined by Dr. John N. Henrie four months after the accident at the request of plaintiff's attorney (R. 434) and by Dr. Reed S. Clegg seventeen months after the accident as an independent medical examiner appointed by the court (R. 84-85). Dr. Henrie anticipated no permanent disability as a result of the accident at the time of his examination made four months after the accident (R. 440 & Exh. D-10) and Dr. Clegg at the time of his examination made seventeen months after the accident felt the healing process had been completed (R. 468) and that plaintiff could continue with his wrestling activities at the University of Utah, if he so desired (R. 455).

The only testimony presented at trial regarding whether or not plaintiff would require surgery in the future as a result of the accident in question was that of Dr. Soderberg when he testified that there was a chance that surgery would be required, but it was not likely. He estimated that there was only about a 15% chance of surgery becoming necessary at some later date (R. 368) and, conversely, an 85% possibility that future surgery would not be necessary (R. 394).

Defendants objected to the introduction of evidence relative to the surgical procedure, period of hospitalization and post operative care relative to a cervical fusion operation, but said objection was overruled (R. 369-371). Defendants also requested by their requested jury instruction No. 21 that the jury be instructed that they could not award damages for possible future surgery

expenses or disability resulting therefrom since there was no medical evidence admitted during the trial upon which it could be found by a preponderance of the evidence that such surgery would become necessary, but said requested instruction was refused (R. 211). Defendants thereafter excepted to the court's failure to give defendants requested instruction No. 21 (R. 499).

(The following statement of facts regarding jury deliberations and verdicts is from the second trial.)

The court specifically instructed the jury that if they found the issues of liability in favor of the plaintiff, the amount of special damages awarded could not exceed \$377.50 (R. 234). Nevertheless, the jury returned a verdict of special damages of \$10,000.00 and general damages of \$1,700.00 (R. 503-504), making a total verdict of \$11,700.00. The court declared the verdict erroneous (R. 502 & 513) and sent the jury out to re-deliberate with the additional instruction that they re-read the instructions, paying particular attention to the instructions regarding damages (R. 508).

The jury retired to re-deliberate at 4:35 p.m. (R. 508) and returned their second verdict into the courtroom at 4:41 p.m. (R. 510). The second verdict awarded special damages of \$377.50 and general damages of \$11,322.50 (R. 512), making a total verdict of \$11,700.00, the same amount as awarded by the first verdict.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF A NEW TRIAL.

Plaintiff's motion for a new trial following the first trial was made solely upon the factual basis that the evidence did not support the verdict of no cause of action returned in favor of defendants (R. 181). Plaintiff made no claim of legal error in the admission or rejection of evidence, in the giving of jury instructions, or in the conduct of the court or counsel.

The factual issues tried in this case were whether or not the defendant Johnson was negligent, whether or not plaintiff was contributorily negligent and whether or not the negligence of either was a proximate cause of the accident. This court has consistently held that the determination of negligence, contributory negligence and causation is the prerogative of the jury. *Singleton vs. Alexander, et al.*, 19 Utah 2d 292, 431 P.2d 126 (1967) and *Corbridge vs. M. Morrin & Son, Inc.*, 19 Utah 2d 409, 432 P.2d 41 (1967).

Defendants do not question the principle that motions for new trials are addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court in order to prevent manifest injustice, should it occur, but contend that such discretion should be exercised with restraint when the only grounds claimed for a new trial is "insufficiency of the evidence" on issues which are traditionally the prerogative of the jury to determine. Certainly one who attacks a jury verdict with a claim that it should be set aside and a new trial

granted should show some irregularity, indication of prejudice or some other fact which may have prevented the parties from having a fair trial. Plaintiff alleges no such fact in his motion for a new trial and defendants contend that none is shown in the record (R. 541-802).

Defendants readily agree with the principle set forth in *Hyland vs. St. Marks Hospital*, 19 Utah 2d 134, 427 P.2d 736 (1967) that the trial judge's role in overseeing the process of trial by jury with respect to ruling on motions for a new trial goes beyond merely determining whether or not the evidence will or will not support the verdict, but in the absence of any other contention and where the evidence is rather evenly balanced on the issues of negligence and contributory negligence, as will be referred to hereafter, the court's discretion to grant a new trial should be exercised very cautiously. Indeed, the standard as set forth in the *Hyland* case, *supra*, should be followed:

"Consistent with the purpose just discussed, whenever what has transpired in the proceeding is so offensive to the trial court's sense of justice that he believes the desired object of affording the parties a fair trial has failed, he has both the prerogative and the duty to grant a new trial."

In the *Hyland* case, the plaintiff was seriously injured while being catheterized by an orderly of defendant hospital. There was no question of contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff, the defendant allowed a relatively untrained person to perform a rather sophisticated procedure, and the orderly admitted inflating the balloon of the catheter before obtaining urine as he knew

from instructions and previous experience should occur when the catheter entered the bladder, which should take place before the balloon was inflated. A verdict of no cause of action on such facts is without question against the weight of the evidence and offensive to one's sense of justice.

However, such is not the case in the present action. The jury could well have found the defendant Johnson acted as a reasonably prudent person in attempting to get back into the right-hand lane when he saw plaintiff's brake lights illuminate for some reason unknown to him and was afraid the plaintiff might skid into him (R. 785). Likewise, the jury could well have found the plaintiff contributorily negligent in failing to keep a reasonable lookout to the rear and in suddenly decreasing his speed without giving a signal of his intention to do so.

Although the canyon road was a winding road, the defendant Johnson was able to see plaintiff's automobile ahead of him most of the time as they traveled down the canyon together for approximately one mile before the accident occurred (R. 739). The jury might well have found that if plaintiff had glanced into his rear view mirror occasionally as he traversed that last mile before the accident occurred, that at least on one occasion he would have seen defendant's bread truck and known that it was in the vicinity. Since plaintiff testified he never saw the truck at any time prior to the accident (R. 595), the jury may well have concluded that he did not look to the rear as often as he should have during that last mile. This court has previously held it to be a jury question

whether or not a forward driver is guilty of negligence in failing to observe traffic approaching from the rear. *Hayden vs. Cederlund*, 1 Utah 2d 171, 263 P.2d 796 (1953).

Also, Section 41-6-69(c), U.C.A., 1953, provides that:

“No person shall stop or suddenly decrease the speed of a vehicle without first giving an appropriate signal in the manner provided herein to the driver of any vehicle immediately to the rear when there is opportunity to give such signal.”

The trial court so instructed the jury (R. 152) and the jury could have found that plaintiff had time to at least flash his brake lights in advance of his deceleration, which he admittedly did not do (R. 601). The only signal he gave was the illumination of his brake lights made contemporaneously with his deceleration, which is not an appropriate signal of one's intention to decelerate since it gives no advanced warning of the contemplated deceleration. *United States vs. First Security Bank of Utah*, 208 F.2d 424 (10th Cir. 1953).

Admittedly, a jury or other trier of fact could reasonably have found to the contrary on all of the foregoing factual issues, but since the verdict returned was in favor of the defendants, the defendants were entitled to have the evidence and any inferences which could logically be drawn therefrom viewed in the light most favorable to them by the trial court in considering whether or not there was an insufficiency of the evidence to sustain the verdict rendered. In *Smith vs. Gallegos*, 16 Utah 2d 244, 400 P.2d 570 (1965) this Court reiterated this principle in stating:

“It is elementary that where there is a dispute in the evidence, resolving the conflicts is for the jury under its prerogative as the exclusive finder of the facts. It is equally so because of the jury’s verdict in his favor, we must accept the respondent Jones’ version of the facts and review the evidence and all inferences fairly to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to him. Having done so, it appears that there is a reasonable basis therein upon which the jury could remain unpersuaded that the respondent Jones failed to perform his duty in yielding the right of way, as we have discussed herein. Accordingly, the trial court was well advised in rejecting appellant’s contention that respondent Jones should be held guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law and properly presented the issues to the jury for determination.”

The evidence viewed in the light most favorable to the defendants is substantial and sufficient to sustain the verdict of no cause of action and since lack of sufficiency was the only ground claimed by the plaintiff in his motion for a new trial, the trial court abused its discretion in setting aside the verdict and granting a new trial. The proper rule with respect to how active a trial judge should become in setting aside verdicts and granting new trials is well stated by Justice Crockett in his concurring opinion in *Holmes vs. Nelson*, 7 Utah 2d 435, 326 P.2d 722 (1958) as follows:

“The verdict, when supported by substantial evidence, should be regarded as presumptively correct and should not be interfered with merely because the judge might disagree with the result. The prerogative should only be exercised when, in view of the trial court, it seems clear that the

jury has misapplied or failed to take into account proven facts; or misunderstood or disregarded the law; or made findings clearly against the weight of the evidence so that the verdict is offensive to his sense of justice to the extent that he cannot in good conscience permit it to stand.”

This rule was later adopted by the entire court in the case of *Wellman vs. Noble*, 12 Utah 2d 350, 366 P.2d 701 (1961) wherein the court stated with respect to the granting of new trials when there has been substantial evidence introduced which would support the verdict:

“Such action is warranted only when to the trial judge, it seems clear that the jury has misapplied or failed to take into account proven facts; or misunderstood or disregarded the law; or made findings clearly against the weight of the evidence.”

New trials were granted in both the *Holmes* and *Wellman* cases; but in the *Holmes* case, plaintiff was a three and one-half year old child (too young to be contributorily negligent) who ran into the street and was struck by defendant after the latter had been warned by his wife of the child's presence when he was 300 feet from the point of impact and in the *Wellman* case, the plaintiff was sitting in an automobile stopped behind a disabled truck and house trailer when struck by defendant, which according to some evidence, defendant should have seen for a considerable distance prior to impact.

In the instant case, there was no dispute in the facts upon which defendants claimed plaintiff was contributorily negligent since plaintiff admitted not seeing de-

court to set aside the verdict and grant a new trial.

* * *

“Consistent with that viewpoint, when the parties have had the opportunity of presenting their evidence and arguments concerning their disputes to the jury, the judgment of the jury should be allowed to swing through a wide arc within the limits of how reasonable minds might see the situation; and the court should not upset a verdict merely because it may disagree. If it did so, the right of trial by jury would be effectively abrogated and the trial may as well be to the court in the first place.”

In the instant case, there is no claim that passion or prejudice influenced the verdict and there is no indication that the jury acted under a misconception of proven facts or misapplied or disregarded the law. To the contrary, it appears that the jury may have believed the defendant Johnson acted as a reasonable man in pulling back behind plaintiff's automobile after plaintiff applied his brakes the first time, or it may have found the plaintiff failed to keep a reasonable lookout to the rear and that if he had done so, he would have seen the defendant's bread truck and consequently not have attempted to stop suddenly when it was attempting to pass. Rather than having disregarded the law, it appears only that the jury may have applied the law of contributory negligence to the conduct of the plaintiff.

fendant's truck at any time prior to the accident when it was obviously traveling behind him for a distance of at least one mile. Therefore, in that regard, the jury could not have misinterpreted or misapplied the facts. The court instructed the jury regarding a forward driver's duty to keep a reasonable lookout to the rear and to give an appropriate signal of his intention to stop or suddenly decrease his speed if there was an opportunity to do so. Since the jury apparently applied this law, how can it be said that it misunderstood or disregarded the law? While recognizing that it is difficult to prove a negative, defendants most seriously contend that a reading of the trial transcript of the first trial will not offend anyone's sense of justice that a verdict was rendered in favor of the defendants, although they may not agree with it.

In *Efco Distributing, Inc. vs. Perrin*, 17 Utah 2d 375, 412 P.2d 615 (1966) this court affirmed the trial court's refusal to grant a new trial where the jury found the issues in favor of the plaintiff but awarded no damages. It stated the rule which should govern trial courts in awarding a new trial as follows:

“If it clearly appears that there has been a miscarriage of justice because the jury has refused to accept credible, uncontradicted evidence where there is no rational basis for rejecting it, or it is plain to be seen that the jury has acted under a misconception of proven facts, or has misapplied or disregarded the law, or where it appears that the verdict was the result of passion and prejudice, it is both the prerogative and the duty of the

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT NO DAMAGES COULD BE AWARDED AS COMPENSATION FOR POSSIBLE FUTURE SURGERY.

During the examination of Dr. Soderberg, plaintiff's counsel asked the doctor to describe how a ruptured disc is repaired. Defendants objected unless a foundation was laid that surgery was contemplated for the plaintiff (R. 362). The court overruled the objection (R. 363) and Dr. Soderberg described in some detail how an incision is made in the front of the neck, how the spine is opened up, how the disc material is removed and finally how bone is then taken from the pelvic bone and placed between two of the intervertebral bodies of the spine (R. 363). Later Dr. Soderberg was asked if he had an opinion as to whether or not surgery would be required for the plaintiff, to which he replied:

"I think there is a chance that surgery will be necessary, but it is not likely.

Q. How would you characterize that chance? Can you ascribe a percentage to it?

A. Yes. I think Larry has about a 15% chance of requiring surgery. This is what we have found on the basis of studies of following people with similar injuries over a long period of time. Fifteen percent will eventually require surgery." (R. 368).

On cross examination, Dr. Soderberg readily admitted that the converse was true, i.e., that there was an 85% chance that surgery would not be necessary for the plaintiff (R. 394).

Plaintiff's counsel then asked what would be required by way of hospitalization if surgery was required (R. 369). Defendants again objected to the question since there had been no medical evidence introduced by which the jury could have found by a preponderance of the evidence that any surgery would be required for the plaintiff, but the objection was overruled (R. 370) and the doctor was allowed to state that if surgery was required, plaintiff would be hospitalized for a week to ten days and would be required to wear a neck brace for a period of from six weeks to three months (R. 370).

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