1970

Lawrence W. Brown v. Charles Fred Johnson and Royal Baking Company : Respondents' Brief

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

C. *The "Moore" Holding Did Not Require the Trial Court to Give Instruction No. 21.*

This court, in *Moore v. Denver and Rio Grande Western Railway Company*, 4 Utah 2d 255, 292 P.2d 849,

¹⁰See: *Mazzotta v. Los Angeles R. Corp.*, 25 Cal 2d 165, 153 P.2d 338.

¹¹*Moore v. Denver and Rio Grande Western Railway Company*, 4 Utah 2d 255, 292 P.2d 849.

reversed the trial court for failing to give an instruction, requested by the defendants, which removed the question of a disc injury from the consideration of the jury. The majority opinion held that the proof of the disc injury was not probative. It is this principle which defense counsel asserts is applicable to the instant case.

The plaintiff argues that this court did not intend its *Moore* decision to have the effect argued on appeal by the defendants. In *In Re Richards Estate*, 5 Utah 2d 106, 297 P.2d 542, it was argued that the testimony of an expert witness was so uncertain and vague that it should not have been submitted to the jury. The *Moore* case was cited as authority for this proposition. This court, finding the evidence admissible, held this to be an erroneous interpretation of the *Moore* holding. It stated simply that *Moore* held “*in the particular context*” that the experts’ qualifying phrases rendered the testimony “too insubstantial when standing alone to support the verdict.”¹² (Emphasis added)

D. *The Evidence Submitted by the Plaintiff on the Issue of Future Surgery was Probative.*

The trial court could not conclude that there was

¹²Note that the concurring opinion in the *Moore* case criticized the reasoning of the majority, concluding that,

“ . . . instead of succumbing to specious pretexts of ingenious counsel to avoid a distasteful result, judicial forthrightness requires recognition that the verdict was so excessive that it must have resulted from passion and prejudice, and the granting of a new trial on that ground.”

Counsel suggests that the main thrust of the cited portion of the concurring opinion refers to the argument that the evidence was not probative, and to the conclusion that failure to give the defendants instruction constituted reversible error. The concurring opinion also prophetically cited the legal “cliche” that “harsh cases make bad law.”

no medical evidence produced by which the jury could find that surgery would be required. If the evidence was probative, and if it posed an issue for the jury, then the proposed instruction was correctly denied.

The treating physician testified that there was a 15 per cent chance that surgery would be required. The defendants' argument, simplified, is that unless there is a 50 per cent chance, the jury could never find for the proposition by a preponderance of the evidence (R. 625-626). This, it is argued, is the legal effect of the holding in the *Moore* case. The logical extension of the defendants' argument is that proof of any condition, having a chance for surgery of less than 50 per cent, is not probative, and is, by means of an instruction, to be automatically removed from the consideration of the jury.

The application of this formula denies reality. It suggests that a jury cannot find, or consider, with the aid of the medical testimony and other proof, that which is in fact true. That is, that a plaintiff, as a result of his injuries and of the negligence which caused them has a 15 per cent, or, as the case may be, a 49 per cent chance of future surgery.

The plaintiff suggests that the correct formula is that a jury could find by a preponderance of the evidence that there is a 15 per cent chance of future surgery, and consider the fact accordingly. This appears to be the position taken by the majority of the cases that

have considered the matter.¹³ If the court agrees with the plaintiff on this point alone, all other considerations notwithstanding, the defendants' argument under Point II must fail. The defendants' proposed instruction was solidly based on the proposition that there was no medical evidence presented at the trial upon which a jury could find that surgery would be necessary. Given probative evidence, upon which a jury could predicate a finding, the instruction was clearly incorrect (R. 211).

Although these considerations become less significant given the plaintiff's waiver of any claim for such damages, and his failure to prove the value of any such loss or to pursue the matter in argument, the court properly denied the instruction.

E. The Court's Failure to Give the Requested Instruction Did Not, In Any Event, Constitute Prejudicial Error.

Analysis of Dr. Soderberg's testimony, and of the medical facts, demonstrates that the amount of the jury's verdict was fully justified by the plaintiff's injuries, future surgery notwithstanding. The defendant has essentially abandoned on appeal its contention that the damages were excessive although this was asserted, without argument, at the hearing on the Motion for a New Trial (R. 260). It is argued only that the amount of the verdict is "strong indication" that the jury found damages for future pain and suffering associated with

¹³See: *Dornberg v. St. Paul City R. Co.*, 253 Minn 52, 91 NW 178. Also: Annotation 69 ALR2d 1271.

a cervical fusion. *Nothing*, other than the amount of the award, is asserted to permit such an inference. As the Missouri Supreme Court stated in *Sang v. St. Louis*, 262 Mo. 454, 171 SW 347, it "would be trifling with justice to *suppose* that the jury allowed anything of substance on the issue of future medical services." (Emphasis added).

In the same Utah case which confined the *Moore* decision to its own particular facts,¹⁴ the trial court refused to give an instruction to the effect that the burden of showing lack of testamentary capacity was upon the contestants in a will contest. That this was the law was undisputed. It was indicated on the instruction by the trial judge that the charge was "given by implication." This court held on appeal that while it might have been desirable to give the requested instruction, and would not have been error to do so, failure to do so did not justify a reversal. Only when the jury was insufficiently advised of the issues to be determined, or confused or misled to the prejudice of the complaining party, did the refusal to give an instruction constitute the basis for a reversal.

Rule 61 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure expressly provides that if there is error, no new trial shall be granted or judgment be disturbed, unless refusal to take such action appears "inconsistent with substantial justice." Nothing so appears in the instant case.

¹⁴In *Re Richards Estate*, 5 Utah 2d 106, 297 P.2d 542.

The defendants' proffered instruction did not specifically purport to cover damages related to pain and suffering. It was limited by its terms to damages for "possible future disability" or expenses of "surgical treatment."¹⁵ Had the instruction been given, it would have furnished the jury with no guidance with respect to the issue of damages for pain and suffering.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY APPLIED SETTLED PRINCIPLES OF LAW IN DIRECTING THE JURY TO CORRECT ITS VERDICT.

Plaintiff's counsel argued in concluding the plaintiff's case that the plaintiff had expended \$377.50 for medical expenses, \$65.00 for air fare to Norfolk, Virginia, and that he had lost \$1,255.00 in earnings as a result of his injuries (R. 490-491). The total of the above items was \$1,697.50. Counsel made a per diem argument with respect to damages for pain and suffering (R.492-494). The court, without discussion of air fare and lost earnings, had instructed the jury that the total amount of special damages should not exceed the sum of \$377.50, the amount of the medical specials (R. 234).

The jury returned with a total verdict of \$11,700.00, \$1,700.00 of which was characterized as general damages and \$10,000.00 of which was characterized as spe-

¹⁵This is also the interpretation earlier placed on the instruction by defense counsel (R. 526).

cial damages (R. 255-A). During a conference in chambers to discuss the error, plaintiff's counsel called to the attention of the trial court the fact that the air fare, the medical expenses, and the lost earnings totalled roughly \$1,700.00 (R. 504). Counsel also, before the return of the jury, called to the court's attention the fact that the jury had inadvertently inserted the special damage item in the general damage section of the verdict form and vice versa (R. 509).¹⁶

After the conference in chambers, the court asked the jury to return to the jury room and reconsider its verdict in light of the court's earlier instructions, particularly those having reference to the issue of damages (R. 508).

The jury, following the court's advice, returned to the jury room, discussed the matter and corrected the verdict to read \$377.50 special damages and \$11,332.50 general damages. The amount of the verdict, \$11,700.00, remained constant.

The defendants' Motion for a New Trial was primarily based upon the alleged irregularity of the proceedings as above described (R. 259). The transcript of the defendants' argument on its Motion for a New Trial reflects the following interchange:

COURT: "What is your comment on Rule 47R and Jorgensen versus Gonzales? What have you got to say about about those two items?"

¹⁶See also counsel's comments in the Record at 504.

MR. WADSWORTH: "I don't know. I'd have to read them." (R. 532)

The Judge then concluded that *Jorgensen v. Gonzales*, 14 Utah 2d 330, 383 P.2d 934 (1963), with rule 47(r) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, was "decisive" of the issues raised by the defendants' motion (R. 533).

Despite the especial significance attached to the *Gonzales* case by the trial court, and to Rule 47(r), these authorities have been again ignored by the defendants on appeal.¹⁷

Rule 47(r) indicates:

"*Correction of Verdict.* If the verdict rendered is informal or insufficient, it may be corrected by the jury under the advice of the court, or the jury may be sent out again."

Jorgensen v. Gonzales, *supra*, is dispositive of the issues raised by Point III of the appellant's brief, both as governing precedent and as a logical proposition. In *Gonzales*, an automobile collision case, the jury returned a verdict of \$368.49 special damages and \$1,131.51 general damages. The odd amounts of the damages caused the court to question the jury foreman about the possibility of a quotient or chance verdict. Discussion disclosed that the jury had considered the plaintiff's travel expense from California to Utah as an item of general damage. The defendant asserted and the plain-

¹⁷See Appellants Brief, page 17. Appellant refers to Rule 47(r) and to *State v. Gonzales* without analysis, except to say that they served as authorization for the trial judge's decision to direct the jury to reconvene.

tiff conceded that this was incorrect. The court directed the jury to go out and reconsider its verdict. After reconsideration, the jury returned with a second corrected verdict of \$368.49 special damages and \$1,200.00 general damages. Note that, unlike the instant case, the amount of the total verdict was increased adversely to the interest of the defendant-appellant.

This court, in referring to Rule 47(r) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, concluded that,

“The general and well-established rule is that so long as the jury is functioning as such in the course of a trial and until it is discharged, it is subject to directions and instructions from the court to the end that the issues be fully tried, deliberated upon, and a correct verdict rendered. And where it is apparent that there is some patent error in connection with the verdict, the court may of course call the matter to their attention and direct them to redeliberate. In that regard it has been held, sensibly and properly, that where an amount is erroneously included the court may direct the jury to retire and correct it. The trial court appears to have acted not only within its prerogative but properly and discreetly in handling the situation.”

The principle of the *Gonzales* case is widespread. It is applicable when a verdict is “informal,” “insensible,” “repugnant,” “not responsive to the issues submitted,” or “in disregard of the instructions of the court.” Although, counsel asserts, none of these elements were present in the instant case, the practice of permitting a jury to reconvene to reconsider is merely an application of the “settled rule” that “until the

verdict has been recorded, or the jury have been discharged as unable to agree, their connection with the case has not come to an end." *Blain v. Yockey*, 117 Colo. 29, 184 P.2d 1915. See also: *Bortek v. Philadelphia Rapid Transit Co.*, 13 A 856, *Baldwin v. Erving*, 69 Idaho 176, 204 P.2d 430, *Sparks v. Berntsen*, 19 Cal.2d 308, 121 P.2d 497, *Holloway v. Evans*, 55 N.M. 601, 238 P.2d 457, *Sacko v. Brooklyn and Queens Transit Corp.*, 1 N.Y.S.2d 489, 166 Misc 84.

The defendant makes much of the point that the jury did not redeliberate, that it merely retired, made a mathematical calculation and returned. Nothing in the record substantiates such a conclusion, other than the fact that the second retirement was brief. How brief, is difficult to determine from the record which is ambiguous and confused on the point.¹⁸ Cases such as those cited in the appellants' brief¹⁹ which involve juries which stubbornly refuse to follow the instructions of the court on matters involving substantive change, are markedly unhelpful when considering corrections involving matters of form.

A jury verdict that, "We find for the plaintiff, no cause of action," is easily corrected. It requires no substantial reconsideration. To gauge the validity of the

¹⁸Note that the record, p. 508, indicates that the court returned and requested the jury to reconsider its verdict at 4:43 p.m. and the record, p. 510, indicates that the jury returned with the corrected verdict at 4:41 p.m.

¹⁹See especially *Feruzza v. City of Pittsburgh*, 394 Pa. 70, 145 A.2d 706, where the jury, without adequate deliberation, defied the judge, adding attorney fees, court costs, and additional damages by "indirection," correctly called by the court "capricious" and "unjustifiable."

correction in terms of the time required to effect it, would stretch credulity. When a jury considers the elements of damage correctly, even though confusing such concepts as general and special damages and reflecting them incorrectly as to form on the verdict, a mere mechanical change or mathematical calculation is indicated. Restating the language of the *Gonzales* case, “. . . where an amount is erroneously included the court may direct the jury to retire and correct it.”

Furthermore, Rule 47(r) provides that an informal or insufficient verdict “may be corrected by the jury *under the advice of the court, or the jury may be sent out again.*” (Emphasis added). The rule then provides, alternatively, that such matters may be resolved and necessary corrections made by a jury reconvened at the direction of the court, or by a jury operating in open court with the judge’s assistance, *without redeliberation.*

POINT IV

THE PROCEDURES AT AND BEFORE THE HEARING ON DEFENDANTS’ MO- TION FOR A NEW TRIAL WERE PROPER AND DID NOT PREJUDICE THE DEFEND- ANTS.

The defendants contend that plaintiff’s counsel acted improperly by submitting affidavits of jurors to the court in advance of the hearing on defendants’ Motion for a New Trial. The questioned documents are included in the record on appeal (R. 261-266). It is asserted that the affidavits should have been submitted

as exhibits to the plaintiff's rebuttal argument to the defendants' Motion for a New Trial. This would have permitted, counsel reasons, the court to have ruled on the issue of admissibility before the offending documents were made a part of the record. The advance submission of the affidavits is alleged to have been "highly improper" and possibly prejudicial to the defendants' position with respect to the Motion for a New Trial.

In providing counsel and the court with the proposed affidavits in advance of the hearing, the plaintiff was complying with the specific provisions of Rule 59(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The rule requires the moving party on a Motion for New Trial based upon subdivisions 1 through 4 of Rule 59 to support the motion by affidavit.²⁰ It further requires that the opposing party has 10 days, after service of the moving party's motion, within which to serve opposing affidavits. Had plaintiff's counsel waited until the morning of the hearing to produce the proposed affidavits, it is most likely that the court would have rejected them, not on their merits as it did, but on technical grounds, on defendants' motion, on the theory that they were untimely and took the defendants by surprise.

A careful reading of the record indicates that no question of the impropriety of counsel was raised by the defendants with the trial court when the affidavits' admissibility was discussed (R. 516-517). The court

²⁰Although the Defendants' motion, based in large part on Rule 59(a)(1), was unsupported.

concluded that the affidavits were filed to impeach the verdict of the jury (R. 517), that such use was not permitted by law (R. 517), and that it was not going to consider them (R. 516).

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